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Vision
To be world–recognised for the 
advancement of orthopaedic 
surgery through education, 
professional standards, research 
and advocacy.

Purpose
Restoring and advancing the 
wonder of movement. 
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Key Highlights

AUG-18 
– 
AUG-19

Ethics sessions are delivered at NSW, SA, WA and QLD state branch ASMs following 
launch at VIC ASM early 2018

AUG-18
The first OWL event providing potential future orthopaedic surgeons insight into the 
orthopaedic career as a woman takes place in QLD – other sessions follow in NSW 
and VIC

SEP-18 All AOA internal files and TIMS/Training App data is moved to a secure cloud hosting 
system, increasing security and reducing in-house hardware requirements

OCT-18 The Australia and New Zealand Sarcoma Association Ltd is formed from the merger 
of the Australian Sarcoma Group and the Australasian Sarcoma Study Group

OCT-18 AOA Event registration is now built in-house using a custom form-builder platform, 
allowing more flexible, immediate and convenient event registration services

OCT-18 The AOA Champions of Change is formed, providing additional resources for the 
execution of AOA's diversity strategy

OCT-18 AOA leads the design, development and delivery of the RACS Surgical Leaders 
Forum in Melbourne, in cooperation with the Australian Society of Plastic Surgeons

OCT-18 Representatives from more than 20 countries join the AOA ASM in Perth

NOV-18 For the first time, representatives from other specialties join the sixth annual AOA 
Emerging Leaders Forum, reflecting AOA's increasing esteem in leadership education

NOV-18
AOA President delivers the keynote presentation at the WW1 orthopaedic 
symposium at the 2018 Congress of the French Society of Orthopaedics and 
Traumatology (SOFCOT) in Paris

2018 – 2019
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NOV-18 AOA President, members and CEO represent the Association at the WW1 Centenary 
commemoration at the Australian National Memorial at Villers Bretonneux 

NOV-18 AOA’s cybersecurity is increased through the implementation of a web application 
firewall, and attempted malicious activity is now tracked in real time

DEC-18 Beginning with the December VIC/TAS Bone School, ethics sessions are incorporated 
into Bone School across the country

JAN-19 Revised AOA Accreditation Standards for Hospitals providing training posts are 
launched, with enhanced standards for training flexibility

JAN-19 The AOA CPD App is launched, allowing easy member recording of professional 
development activities

JAN, 
APR & 
JUL-19

AOA chairs three Australian Consensus Framework implementation workshops, with 
attendance from all areas of the health sector

FEB-19
The first cohort of AOA 21 Trainees enters Core Orthopaedics, as the implementation 
of AOA 21 continues; those under the new program outnumber SET trainees for the 
first time

FEB-19 Mentoring sessions are included for the first time at Bone Camp

FEB-19 Online abstract submission is enabled for all AOA events, allowing faster, more 
efficient and more autonomous collation and review of presentation abstracts

FEB-19
AOA CEO delivers the first of a series governance education workshops in 2019, 
subsequently held throughout the country and extended on request to other groups 
and specialties

FEB-19 The AOA Advertising Complaints Subcommittee meets for the first time, facilitating 
discourse around proper conduct in service and practice promotion

MAR-19
AOA CEO participates in the seventh consecutive OzHarvest CEO CookOff, raising 
more than $90k and gaining AOA recognition nine times on the Australian Financial 
Review's front page

MAR-19 AOA co-chairs the second Australasian-region International Medical Education 
Leaders Forum, held in Auckland, New Zealand

Return to contents
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MAY – 
JUN-19

AOANJRR continues to feature as a world-leader in registry science at the 
2019 Congress of the International Society of Arthroplasty Registries in Leiden, 
Netherlands

JUN-19 Outreach members and operational manager are recognised by Tupou VI, King of 
Tonga, as members of the Royal Order of the Crown

JUN-19 AOA features as the guest nation at the 2019 EFORT Congress, focused on registry 
science, in Lisbon

JUN-19 OWL Chair Jennifer Green addresses the American Orthopaedic Association at their 
annual meeting on AOA's efforts to support a more equitable orthopaedic society

JUN-19 The first PhD training post is accredited, facilitating a trainee’s choice to follow the 
PhD pathway

JUN, 
JUL & 
AUG-19

Three AOA state branches host record numbers of attendees at their annual scientific 
meetings – QLD (June), NSW (July) and WA (August)

JUL-19 The AOANJRR Strategic Plan 2020–2023 is approved, mapping the path of the 
Registry over the next three years

JUL-19
A presentation on AOA selection by the AOA Dean of Education is selected as a 
top-three nominee for the 2019 Canadian Royal College/Journal of Graduate Medical 
Education's residency education plenary at ICRE 2019

JUL-19 The Australian Ethical Health Alliance is formed to guide implementation of the ACF, 
and its steering committee elects AOA CEO as chair

Return to contents
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INTRODUCTION

The AOA Board and management continue to oversee the operational activities of the Association, liaise 
with Royal Australasian College of Surgeons, AHPRA, state and federal governments, the medical device 
industry, medical defence organisations, and medical insurers, and look carefully at both the implementation 
of our strategic objectives and the plans for our future direction. This year has seen advancement in all these 
areas, and particularly pleasing is the change of AOA 21 from a strategic issue to a fully functioning aspect 
of our day-to-day activities. None of this would be possible without the enthusiastic and unstinting support 
from the membership (especially those involved in the myriad committees, state executives and hospital 
accreditation visits), and the skill and hard work from all of our staff. There are a number of areas that I would 
like to highlight.

MEMBERSHIP SURVEY

One of our most important resources that informs the Board on the direction in which AOA should move is 
the annual member survey. You, the members, can let us know what issues are of greatest concern, and this 
guides the Board as to appropriate allocation of resources. One minor problem is the relatively small number 
of responses that are received each year; efforts are continually being made to make the survey easier to 
complete, whilst still remaining relevant. The topics of most interest this year are health insurance issues, 
over-servicing, advertising practices, work-life balance and the adaptation of practice to new technologies. 
All of these areas are under active consideration and most have been the topic of newsletters, Bulletin 
articles and presentations at state meetings.

AOA 21

Seven years ago the Board made the decision to completely revamp our Training Program, moving from a 
time basis to a competency-based system. This was with a view to providing surgeons with better tools to 
face the challenge of 21st century medicine and to continue to improve patient outcomes. Australian training 
was always good at teaching surgery, but was less successful in teaching non-technical competencies. 
These non-technical areas (now named Foundation Competencies) are embedded in the Program, and 
are introduced to the new trainees at Bone Camp. After a huge amount of work by a very dedicated team, 
most of whom are part of the AOA team, I am pleased to report that AOA 21 has moved from our strategic 
portfolio to being fully operational. Special thanks to Ian Incoll and Omar Khorshid for their stewardship of 
this process in their roles as chairs of the Federal Training Committee, and in other educational roles. The 
overall success of this endeavour will depend on all surgeons associated with trainees providing regular and 

The AOA Board is delighted to see AOA 21, 
a major strategic initiative, become fully 
operational in 2019.

President – David Martin

President 
Report

Return to contents
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responsive feedback via the Training App, which is hopefully on the first page of everyone’s phones. It is 
worthy of note that state health departments, other colleges and some international bodies are interested in 
using our technology to track their own trainees.

DIVERSITY

One of the most pleasing developments over the past year is the rapid development and ongoing discussion 
of the Diversity Strategy. Although there is still significant work to be done, we have been able to present 
our strategy to many groups including the Australian Medical Association and the American Orthopaedic 
Association. I would like to thank Jenny Green, the Orthopaedic Women’s Link Chair, for attending and 
presenting to this group in San Diego in June this year. The Champions of Change Working Group has been 
active in promoting diversity issues at local state and national meetings. The AOA Board in 2019 will have at 
least two female members and maybe more depending on the results of the elections. The need for large 
training hospitals to provide flexible training positions and the move to competency rather than time-based 
training will hopefully allow for a more diverse group to both participate in and complete orthopaedic 
training.

ADVOCACY

Tireless efforts by our staff and media advisors over many years have finally resulted in government departments 
and media organisations coming first to AOA for comment and advice on matters concerning musculoskeletal 
medicine. The AOA presidential line and management have had meetings with the Federal Health Minister, 
RACS, Australian Medical Association, the Australian Physiotherapy Association, Medical Technology Association 
of Australia, Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency, medical insurers and Australian Medical Council 
on issues including workforce issues, out-of-pocket costs, professional behaviour, Medical Services Advisory 
Committee determinations, Therapeutic Goods Administration issues, training and selection, strategies to assess 
older surgeons, and integrity with respect to interaction with the medical device industry. 

Topics have included tennis players’ hips, medical tourism, youth sport injury prevention, pursuing 
orthopaedics as a female, and, most recently, the potential diet of saltwater crocodiles.

A further initiative that will improve our ability to work in a cohesive way is the implementation of governance 
training provided by our tireless CEO Adrian Cosenza for incoming directors, interested members and also 
the boards of some of our sister associations.

RACS RELATIONSHIP

RACS has spent considerable time in the last two years organising and participating in a ‘road show’ to go 
around Australia to talk to all the subspecialty societies. Open and respectful communication between our 
respective organisations has led to a significant improvement in our relationship. I would like to recognise John 
Batten, the previous RACS president, and Mary Harney, the previous RACS CEO, for their efforts, and I look 
forward to continuing this work with the current president Tony Sparnon and CEO John Biviano. The Service 
Agreement and Service Activity Matrix, which were generated some years ago, are due for review and renewal 
and we will ensure that AOA is able to continue to drive innovation in surgical practice, training and hospital 
accreditation while always honouring the Agreement and abiding by our Ethical Framework and values. Thanks 
as always goes to all those who devote significant time and effort in this area, but particularly our National 
Education Manager Ally Keane, her education team, and Federal Training Committee Chair Omar Khorshid.

We have seen a 79% increase in media mentions over the 
past 12 months, from 76 last year to 136 currently.

Return to contents
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ETHICS

In order to ensure that we continue to reflect our ethical values, all papers discussed at the board and 
committees have the aspects of our Framework that are relevant to the topic clearly listed at the start 
of the document. We continue to collaborate with The Ethics Centre in Sydney, and its director, Simon 
Longstaff, was the guest speaker at the Spine Society of Australia meeting in the Gold Coast, and a virtual 
speaker at our COE meeting in Melbourne. Under Second Vice-President Michael Gillespie, the Advertising 
Complaints Subcommittee has been considering examples of promotion of surgeons and clinics that, 
although they do not seem to fail an AHPRA legislative hurdle, do not pass the ‘pub test’. This will hopefully 
allow ongoing collegiate conversation, mentoring and positive reinforcement to remain the main pillars of 
our professionalism, and avoid ineffective sanctions. We need to continue discussion in regards to what 
constitutes appropriate billing practices, and to come to sensible decisions that allow the best medical care 
in a sustainable environment, because if we fail to do so, others will make the decisions for us.

AOANJRR

The “Registry” continues to go from strength to strength. Australia was the guest nation at the EFORT 
meeting in Lisbon, with the theme of the meeting concentrating on registries. Wherever I have gone, it is 
the most common topic of conversation. The report this year will include data on comorbidities and this 
is a focus of ongoing research. The PROMs pilot continues and information for surgeons involved in this 
endeavour is already available. Ongoing identification and reduced use of poorly performing prostheses 
continues to see a decline in the rate of revision of arthroplasty procedures in Australia.

RESEARCH

We are in the middle of a five-year research strategy and there is continued development of the Network 
of Academic Orthopaedic Departments to help coordinate and facilitate orthopaedic research across 
the country. The Federal Training Committee continues to refine research requirements, and has created 
research training pathways that include a true surgeon-scientist option. 

NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL MEETINGS

The constantly improving regard in which AOA is held internationally has resulted in Australia being invited 
as the guest nation to the French Society of Orthopedic and Traumatological Surgery meeting in 2018, and 
European Federation of National Associations of Orthopaedics and Traumatology and Indian Orthopaedic 
Association meetings in 2019. It was a great honour to present papers at symposia in Paris and Lisbon, 
particularly being able to talk about my grandfather’s work in pioneering plastic surgery in World War 1. The 
other international meetings that I attended as a representative of AOA were the New Zealand Orthopaedic 
Association in Rotorua and again in Dunedin, Indian Orthopaedic Association in Coimbatore, American 
Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons in Las Vegas, Canadian Orthopaedic Association in Montreal, American 
Orthopaedic Association in San Diego, South African Orthopaedic Association in Durban and British 
Orthopaedic Association in Liverpool. The issues that concern us on a day-to-day basis are reflected by all 
of these groups. There have been presidential symposia in which I have been involved, discussing viability 
of the health systems, identification of underperforming surgeons, diversity, burnout, research and patient-
centred care. Continued exposure to the issues identified by our international colleagues allows the Board to 
better plan for current and future challenges in Australian orthopaedics.

The state meetings have allowed me to meet a wide spectrum of the AOA membership. The quality of the 
registrar papers and instructional course lectures, as well as that of the free papers, has generally been 
high, but the greatest joy has been in the welcoming nature of each of the chairs, committees and members 
in each state branch. My only regret is not being able to get to every meeting. It is my intention to make a 
couple of the meetings a regular part of my ongoing education in coming years.

Return to contents
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CONCLUSION

It has been a signal honour to have represented the Australian Orthopaedic Association as your president 
in 2019, and I thank the whole membership for having granted me the opportunity. I have met leaders in 
orthopaedics, industry, ethics, wellness, diversity and sustainability and have been both inspired and educated. 
This experience will live with me always, and I hope to continue to contribute to Australian orthopaedics for 
many more years. There are so many people who have helped me through the year; and a special thanks 
goes to my wife Julia and the rest of my family, the Board, and Andrew Ellis and Michael Gillespie as the 
presidential line, and our CEO Adrian Cosenza, and his wonderful staff. My best wishes to you all. If you 
continue to work together, the future health of the Australian community is assured.

Return to contents
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The Board has continued to prudently oversee and carefully steward implementation of AOA strategies. 
AOA is now into the first year of the current 2019–2021 strategy cycle, having successfully completed 
delivery of all milestones in the past two strategic plans for the years 2013–2015 and 2016–2018. With the 
ongoing tireless and generous support of members, AOA’s capability to execute strategic plans continues to 
positively develop, in the context of elevating the importance of better patient outcomes in all endeavours 
within a changing healthcare environment.

Sprints

Marathons

Implementing AOA’s strategic transformation – 
the journey of continuous improvement. 

CEO 
Report
Chief Executive Officer  – Adrian Cosenza

Education fund

Advocacy
service New AOA website

Conference and event service

Risk management system

Disaster recovery Learn@AOA

eProceedings

Group of Past Presidents

Audit and Risk Committee

Fellowship and admin services Social media

AOANJRR new partnership

Mobile website

Online fellowships portal

Research NOADs

Increased international profile

Electronic voting

Benchmarked risk

Enhanced relationship 
management

Building events capability
Technology planning

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Contract management

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Strategic education review

Education Fund

New constitution

Asia-Pacific strategy

CPD strategic review

Ethical Framework

Research Strategic Plan 2016 – 2021

Fellowships strategic review

AOA 21 eight-year implementation plan

AOANJRR best practice review

Innovative service agreement

Completion of due diligence 
benchmark education AOA 21 training and planning

AOA 21 launched

First AOA 21 cohort

Trialling Ethics and 
Mentoring
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Over the transformation journey of the past nine years, the Board has wisely guided investment to 
significantly lift the professionalism and efficiency of AOA operations through best-practice governance. 
Investments in technology, risk, and people have enabled AOA to deliver improved member services. 
Simultaneously, with the active engagement, feedback and involvement of members, the Board has 
overseen significant strategic transformation of orthopaedic surgical education and training, ethics, research, 
professional standards and advocacy. Signature endeavours include implementation of AOA 21, the 
practical and pragmatic journey to embedding an ethical culture, an energised focus on research, nurturing 
mentoring, increased capability and expansion of the world-recognised AOA National Joint Replacement 
Registry, and a fully embracing focus on improving diversity and leadership capability in orthopaedics, while 
also sharpening the focus of effort in the Asia-Pacific region. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019–2021

The pace of execution and delivery of strategic initiatives has not slowed. Already in the first year of the 
2019–2021 Strategic Plan, the Board has seen 86 per cent of the 47 deliverables actioned, with over 11 per 
cent completed and only three per cent yet to commence. 

Over the past year the Board has been highly active in reviewing progress against the 2019–2021 Strategic 
Plan on eight occasions and progress on each of the research, ethics, diversity and Asia Pacific strategic 
plans respectively on four occasions. In addition, directors prudently guided the development of a new 
strategic plan for the AOA National Joint Replacement Registry for 2020–2023. The Board also reviewed 
the AOA Research Foundation’s first ever strategic plan for 2018–2023, and acknowledged the excellent 
endeavour of the AOA Research Foundation’s Board in pursuing this important development. 

With wise and considered oversight and advice from the Audit and Risk Committee, AOA has reviewed 
key risks on two occasions through the Board as part of the six-month review cycle. AOA has maintained 
ongoing alignment of risks with the strategic plan through careful risk-mitigation actions and management of 
controls to stay within the AOA Board-approved risk profile. 

AOA is deeply consultative, actively discerning, monitoring and always reaching out to members, state 
branches, subspecialty societies, AORA and Orthopaedic Women’s Link (OWL). In addition to direct 
feedback, the annual member satisfaction survey has been one of many tools used by the Board to gauge 
member engagement and satisfaction. It is most pleasing to note that following a period of gradual and 
slight decline in overall member satisfaction, as elements of the transformation that brought significant 
change to impact the majority of members in recent years all over Australia, in 2019 overall member 
satisfaction bounced to 86 per cent, up from 82 per cent in 2018. In addition, the number of functions 
rated over 90 per cent satisfaction increased from three in 2018 to six in 2019. These measures are a most 
encouraging sign of the members’ positive engagement with, and agile adoption of, the internationally 
benchmarked changes executed through the implementation of the many aspects of the strategic plan. 

CORE STRATEGIES

Education and Training

AOA 21 was launched in 2014 with an eight-year time frame for delivery. At just over the five-year mark, of the 
47 milestones to 2021, 44 (94 per cent) have been completed, and of the 194 tasks to 2021, 177 (91 per cent) 
have been completed. This world-leading endeavour is well ahead of schedule thanks to the outstanding 
leadership and dedication of members all over Australia.

Return to contents
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Internationally recognised and acclaimed medical educator and physician Dr Jason Frank, who has over 20 
years of experience as a specialist advising on medical education programs in over 15 countries, recently 
commented on the project on social media:

By way of example, in the period 2016–2019, over 130 AOA 21 workshops have been delivered to over 700 
members actively involved in education and training.

A recent summary of 330 survey responses from workshop participants revealed that for 97 per cent of 
attendees, the workshops met or exceeded expectations; 96 per cent of participants intended to implement 
what was learned; 95 per cent felt the information was directly applicable; and 95 per cent felt more 
confident in their role for having undertaken the education. 

2019 saw the delivery of the third annual Bone School in February. Its program offered to the 2019 
introductory trainee cohort clinical and foundation-competency education – facilitated by a highly engaged 
expert group of AOA leaders and members. 

Implementation of the new Accreditation Standards has progressed with over 30 hospital sites engaged in 
the first months of 2019. Early feedback and experience suggest the improved standards and process are a 
significant improvement on the previous approach. 

Now well into its second year of implementation, 2019 has again seen the accumulation of rich data through 
the entering of Workplace-Based Assessments and Feedback Entries, orthopaedic module completion, 
quarterly reviews and appraisals – as well as the logging by trainees of operative procedures via the AOA 21 
Training App, with records of nearly 200,000 procedures recorded and stored over the past two years.

This ever-increasing bank of invaluable information allows a deep understanding of those aspects of practice 
to which AOA 21 trainees are gaining the most exposure, as well as those that represent the greatest 
opportunities for future development.

AOA is investing in the tools and internal capacity required to better sort, filter and analyse this data, which 
will allow the team to draw increasingly sophisticated insights from which to further refine and enhance the 
way trainees are taught and learn.

Already, the benefits of these investments have seen the AOA Dean of Education accepted to present 
research based on AOA 21 data at national and international scientific meetings, prompting yet more 
enquiries from groups hoping to learn from AOA’s experience.

Leadership and Professional Standards

This core strategy features three signature initiatives – diversity, ethics and leadership. 

Under the energetic leadership of Vice-President Andrew Ellis and Orthopaedic Women’s Link (OWL) Chair 
Jennifer Green, execution of the AOA Diversity Strategic Plan 2018–2023 continues quickly and thoroughly. 
Of the 28 milestones, six (21 per cent) are complete and 22 (79 per cent) have been progressed.

“One of the best medical education projects I have ever  
collaborated on. All-star team and a dedicated community who  

really wanted excellence.”

Return to contents
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The recently formed AOA Champions of Change Working Group has facilitated access to additional 
resources and energy to support the ceaseless work of Orthopaedic Women’s Link, which has already 
resulted in better representation of AOA’s female members and better connections with and for aspiring 
surgeons. External parties, both domestic and international, have begun to recognise the strides AOA has 
been making in relation to diversity, resulting in invitations to join and contribute to conversations with other 
groups facing similar challenges. 

Particular acknowledgment must be made of the tireless efforts of current OWL Chair Jennifer Green. 
Jennifer’s opportunity to speak to the American Orthopaedic Association at their annual meeting this year 
was well-earned, and we thank her for representing AOA and OWL’s efforts so well, and also for helping our 
American colleagues learn from our experience.

The implementation of the Ethical Framework continues briskly. Of the 28 milestones in the Ethics 
Implementation Plan, seven (25 per cent) are complete, 14 (50 per cent) are in progress and seven (25 per 
cent) have not yet commenced.

The Board is guiding progress in three areas: governance, education and leadership.

In governance, the strengthening of the Board committee structure, including enhancing and refining the 
respective roles and responsibilities of the committees, has been well advanced, as has the process for 
addressing ethical concerns.

The Ethics Committee, Professional Conduct and Standards Committee and newly formed Advertising 
Complaints Subcommittee all have key roles to play.

A revision of AOA’s Code of Conduct, incorporating the Association’s Position Statement on Interaction with 
the Medical Industry, is, at the time of writing, nearing completion. The revision process has been strongly 
informed by the Ethical Framework, and should result in a code even better suited to provide guidance and 
solid, well-grounded standards to members navigating an ever-changing healthcare landscape.

In education, ethics is being integrated in many AOA forums, including Bone School, Bone Camp, the Emerging 
Leaders’ Forum, state and national annual scientific meetings and governance and leadership sessions.

Not content to focus solely on internal matters, through its leadership the Board continues to strongly 
support AOA’s central involvement in the implementation of the Australian Consensus Framework for Ethical 
Collaboration in the Healthcare Sector (ACF) – now guided by the recently formed Australian Ethical Health 
Alliance (AEHA), with over 70 signatories from all areas of the healthcare sector.

Through the ACF, and the role as the alliance-member elected chair of that group’s steering committee, 
AOA continues to build valuable connections with scores of other signatories – mediated directly by a shared 
commitment to a set of clear ethical principles. 

Return to contents
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AOA is being recognised internationally for its leadership, as demonstrated in this communication to the 
Australian Government from the United States Department of Commerce:

Members are keen for relevant education on leadership. Now in its sixth year, the Emerging Leaders’ 
Forum was successfully held in 2018 with participation from members as well as from other specialty society 
representatives. The 2019 program has grown to accommodate the largest ever group of participants, with 
over 30 from AOA, and other specialty societies, including NZOA, keen to participate in the program, which 
comprises design-learning exercises, learning about leadership principles, engagement with invited leaders, 
debate and problem resolution through ethical dilemmas presented in hypothetical scenarios. 

AOA has also delivered a series of governance and leadership sessions for Board directors, Board 
committees, and general members all over the country. These sessions are delivered at no cost to members 
and designed to improve education and awareness in best-practice governance protocols consistent with 
best-practice principles provided through the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD).

Through demand and at the special request of the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS), and in a 
gesture of goodwill to the sector, AOA is also delivering these sessions to other specialties. 

The Clinical Quality Interim Committee (CQIC), in particular, has been particularly productive over the past 
year, as they construct an ever-growing platform of developed and endorsed position statements and clinical 
guidelines as a resource for members and allied health colleagues, and where helpful, for the public. 

Research

Of the 40 milestones in the Research Strategic Plan 2016–2021, 12 (30 per cent) are complete, 23 (58 per 
cent) progressed and only five (12 per cent) not yet commenced. Of the 25 milestones in the AOA Research 
Foundation Strategic Plan 2018–2023, five (20 per cent) are complete, 11 (44 per cent) progressed and nine 
(36 per cent) have not yet commenced

The renewed energy driving the twin forces of the AOA Research Committee of the Board and the AOA 
Research Foundation continues unabated. Work continues on establishing a true surgeon-scientist pathway 
through the Training Program, and scoping is underway for a potentially more formal and structured 
involvement for AOA in higher education. Thanks to the increased efforts to raise the profile of research 
within AOA, research education sessions are appearing with increasing frequency in state ASMs and at the 
national ASM. 

There has been excellent progress on the AOANJRR patient reported outcomes trial (PROMs) in 50 hospitals, 
with state governments and other stakeholders describing the trial as one of the most effective project-
managed trials in recent years. All this progress augurs well for a national rollout following evaluation of the trial. 

“AOA …who played a key role engaging a diverse array of parties  
to develop an Australian consensus framework for ethical  

collaboration in the health sector. The Australian consensus 
framework, launched last year, is the largest and most advanced of its 

kind, not only in APEC, but in the world. We have been able to leverage 
Australia’s achievement to raise the bar for consensus frameworks 
across APEC economies. We expect another economy to launch a 
consensus framework this year, and two others are substantially 

updating their existing frameworks to be broader and more inclusive, 
which is a direct result of Australia’s framework”.

Return to contents
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Together with the guidance of AOANJRR Director Professor Stephen Graves, and extensive input from 
members, state branches, subspecialty societies, AORA and OWL, the Board stewarded the development of 
a new strategic plan for the AOANJRR for 2020–2023.

The new plan affirms the purpose of the Registry to continually improve the quality of care for individuals 
experiencing musculoskeletal diseases. Six core strategies comprise the plan, including: consumer 
engagement; surgeon engagement; sustainability of the AOANJRR; research and academia; broadening the 
Registry’s focus; and strengthening its international profile. 

Member feedback was highly valuable and overwhelmingly positive, as evidenced through many comments, 
typified by the following:

“Fantastic, world class forward looking asset”

 “The AOANJRR is the best AOA has done in my career”

 “Whenever I meet colleagues from overseas  
they comment on how impressive AOANJRR is”

“The AOANJRR is a well-led organisation  
and its directors need great praise”

Advocacy

AOA’s role as the leading voice in all matters related to Australian orthopaedic care and advice continues to 
be reinforced by the tireless work of AOA’s surgeons, committees and Board.

With ever increasing frequency government bodies, other associations and medical groups continue to seek 
AOA’s feedback and guidance on important decisions on matters such as changes to regulation and the 
formation of new national guidelines and strategies.

Over the past year AOA leadership has been highly active and amongst others maintained regular 
engagement with Federal Minister for Health the Honourable Greg Hunt, the Federal Department of Health, 
the Australian Quality and Patient Safety Committee, the Medical Technology Association of Australia, state 
health jurisdictions, the Australian Medical Council, the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency, 
medical health funds, Private Healthcare Australia, the Australian Private Hospitals Association, RACS, 
specialty societies and NZOA. 

In the media space, AOA’s reputation also continues to grow, with requests for comment and interviews 
becoming steadily more frequent. President David Martin must be applauded for his readiness and 
enthusiasm throughout his tenure to engage with the media, often at short notice, on all things orthopaedic 
– through TV, radio and newspaper interviews.

Over the past year media mentions have increased by 79 per cent from 76 (2017/18) to 136 (2018/19). The 
Youth Sports Injury Prevention Program, spearheaded by Chris Vertullo and aimed at spreading simple, 
cost-effective injury-prevention techniques throughout sporting codes across the country, continues to 
gain prominent exposure through, amongst other instances, Chris’s appearance on SBS’s Insight and his 
contributions as an interviewee for an article in The Saturday Paper.

Other members have also contributed in the media. This exposure, demonstrating the knowledge, expertise 
and care of AOA’s representatives and their determination to improve the lives of the Australian public, 
contributes invaluably to the positive perception of Australia’s orthopaedic surgeons and helps reinforce the 
trust in the medical profession that is crucial to the safe and effective delivery of care.
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The estimated value of AOA’s name gaining repeated prominent exposure on television, radio, social media 
and in major national newspapers is at an all-time high of $2.8m–$3.0m for the year, including the value to 
AOA of my involvement in OzHarvest as the CEO CookOff Ambassador for the seventh consecutive year.

OzHarvest CEO and founder – and well-loved community figure – Ronni Khan AO has described AOA as a 
“shining beacon of corporate social responsibility”.

In the Asia Pacific, excellent progress continues with the Vietnam Orthopaedic Observership Program, 
ongoing support for Indonesian surgeon training and Orthopaedic Outreach continuing to make robust 
progress in re-establishing support for Papua New Guinea.

Members continue to provide generous time, expertise and support for colleagues and trainees across our 
regional neighbours, through numerous visits – for the purpose of teaching and mentoring to enhance the 
quality of patient care and clinical outcomes.

In another example of international recognition, AOA members and Orthopaedic Outreach volunteers 
Geoffrey Rosenberg, Mark Ridhalgh and Rodney Green, along with Orthopaedic Outreach Manager Graham 
Hextell, were welcomed by King Tupou VI of Tonga as members of the Royal Order of the Court, in gratitude 
for their continued commitment to the service of the Tongan people.

AOA’S VISION… TO BE WORLD RECOGNISED

The nine-year transformation journey has seen AOA increasingly recognised as a leader in orthopaedic 
surgery education and training, governance, ethics, leadership and risk management.

Increasing recognition through external party interest

American

Indian

COMOC
– combined associations

Indonesian
AOSHNS – ear, nose and throat

ASPS – plastics

NSA – neurosurgeons

GSA – general surgeons
EFORT

IMELF

RCPSC – Canadian Royal College

GSNZ – NZ General Surgeons

Broken Hill University
Department of Rural Health

Nepean Blue Mountains
Local Health District

New Zealand

Government

Surgical societies

Health Departments

International
medical groups

NSW Government

Clinical Excellence CommissionBritish

Orthopaedic
associations
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In addition to some examples outlined earlier, AOA’s world recognition is manifesting itself in many ways, 
including AOA’s positions as the guest nation at the 2019 annual EFORT meeting in Lisbon in June 2019; 
special co-guest nation at the SOFCOT meeting in Paris in November 2018; through continuing to feature 
as the leader in registry science at the ISAR meeting in Leiden in May 2019; through the invitation as guest 
nation to the Indian Orthopaedic Association meeting in India in November 2019; and through gaining 
as guest and co-host with ANZORS for the 2025 combined meeting with the International Consortium of 
Orthopaedic Research (ICORS), to be held in Adelaide. 

AOA was recently advised by the Royal College’s International Conference on Residency Education (ICRE) 
planning committee and the Journal of Graduate Medical Education (JGME) that AOA has been selected 
as one of the top three nominees for the 2019 Royal College/JGME Top Research in Residency Education 
plenary session to be held in September 2019 for the presentation, ‘The effects of gender on multiple mini 
interview station scores for selection into Australian orthopaedic surgery.’ 

CONCLUSION

The completion of the current strategic cycle will culminate in the full realisation of AOA 21, the flagship 
strategic initiative through which the AOA Training Program – along with a host of other aspects of AOA’s 
role and identity – is being reviewed, revised and enhanced.

This has already taken years of hard work and dedication from AOA presidents, the Board, and many 
hundreds of members across the country, and it will take years more.

However, the appetite for development and constant improvement has not lessened, and even when AOA 
21 has been fully operationalised, it is unlikely that the members of this proud association will be content to 
rest on their well-earned laurels.

If there is a core lesson in this long, transformational experience, it is that there will always be new 
opportunities to become even better.

It remains a most humbling experience to continue to be provided with the opportunity to work with 
and learn from so many presidents, directors, members and staff. I am deeply grateful for their counsel, 
guidance and support. Notwithstanding the amazing progress over the past nine years, it feels like it is the 
beginning of a new era and I remain as excited as ever to continue leading a highly skilled family of staff 
and to support members in the continuing transformation of orthopaedics in Australia for better patient 
and community outcomes.

Adrian Cosenza
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Education and Training Chair – Omar Khorshid

Education & 
Training Report

As I come toward the end of four years as chair of Education and Training, it seems fitting to pause and 
reflect. The Federal Training Committee (FTC) has purposefully worked toward our goal of ‘Excellence in 
orthopaedic surgical education and training’ and has worked hard to keep ‘the ship’ moving in that direction 
as we move through the difficult transition phase of implementation of AOA 21. We didn’t get everything 
right from the outset; however, small course corrections as we continue to move forward will ensure that our 
goal becomes our ultimate destination. As I step down as chair in October, Chris Kondogiannis, current chair 
of the VIC/TAS Regional Training Committee, will continue to lead delivery of the final stages of the AOA 21 
project.

AOA 21

The FTC has continued to monitor the rollout of the AOA 21 project plan throughout this year. Of almost 200 
milestones and actions in the project plan, with a timeline through to 2021, 97 per cent are now complete. 
This considerable achievement is a testament to the commitment of the FTC, AOA Board, AOA Education 
and Training Team and all of you who have been working with us on the ground at training sites, Bone 
School, interviews, trial exams or site visits. The pro bono contributions of our members are the strength of 
our Association and cannot be understated. The FTC and Board have agreed that an external review of the 
implementation of AOA 21 should be planned for 2021.

2019 has seen the first cohort of trainees progress into the Core Orthopaedics stage of training – a 
significant milestone in the rollout of the AOA 21 Training Program. Trainees are now working through both 
the Introduction and Core stages of AOA 21. With three cohorts of trainees in this program, the balance has 
now shifted, with AOA 21 outweighing SET in numbers for the first time. 

Trainees in Core Orthopaedics are working towards completion of their orthopaedic modules, with a view 
to demonstrating their competence across the topics of the applied medical and surgical expertise section 
of the Curriculum. Completion of some of the modules is a requirement for eligibility to sit the Fellowship 
Exam and all modules must be finalised for completion of Core Orthopaedics. Orthopaedic modules are 
supported by a variety of workplace-based assessments (WBAs) and eLogs. 

The balance has now shifted, with AOA 21 
outweighing SET in numbers for the first time.

The pro bono contributions of our members are the 
strength of our Association and cannot be understated.
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The FTC acknowledges that the AOA 21 Training Program has brought with it many changes and that there is 
an increased requirement for completion of WBAs, requiring Fellows to directly observe trainees in a variety 
of settings. This was an intentional change to drive supervision where the evidence told us this was lacking. 
I extend my thanks to the approximately 800 members currently engaging with the assessment process for 
your perseverance and commitment to the training of the next generation of orthopaedic surgeons. It is 
anticipated that familiarity will lessen the considerable effort this undertaking currently requires. We hope 
that your effort, experience and completion of the AOA 21 Workshops is beginning to come together in 
achieving this ambition.

The FTC is refining details for the Transition to Practice stage of training that all AOA 21 trainees will 
complete prior to completion of training. Research is a requirement of Transition to Practice, and the FTC 
was pleased to recently accredit the first PhD post, which will facilitate a trainee following the PhD pathway. 
Work is underway towards development of educational materials for this final year with topics such as 
practice management and practical ethics identified. 

Teaching and Learning across the breadth of the Foundation Competencies has continued, with ethics, 
mentoring and risk management included in Bone School schedules around the country. A suite of Bone 
School resources has been made available on the Learning Management System and the delivery of these 
will be approached in a more structured way going forward. The Learning Management System acts as a 
repository for learning resources for all trainees, regardless of their location.

2019 saw the launch of the new AOA Accreditation Standards for Hospitals and Training Positions. All AOA 
training sites will now be assessed against these new Standards, which are designed to ensure that a training 
site is appropriately equipped to provide education and training opportunities in accordance with the AOA 
21 Curriculum and Training Program requirements.

An Accreditation Committee has been constituted as a sub-committee of the FTC to manage the operations 
of the new Accreditation process. The Accreditation Committee is comprised of regional representatives 
who are involved on site visits to ensure each application can be fully assessed and considered. A new 
initiative has seen the inclusion of trainee representatives on visiting teams to offer peer support to local 
trainees and create an environment for them to confide any issues pertaining to supervision or support in a 
non-threatening context.

Due to the volume of data now available and the complexity of running dual training programs, the FTC 
now meets four times a year, with the new meeting focusing on reviewing training data, the outcomes of the 
selection process and strategic planning.

SELECTION

The selection process for entry into the AOA 21 Training Program in 2020 is almost complete. The move 
back towards a more state-based process after 16 years of national selection has been successful, with most 
trainees selected into their state of first choice. This will minimise disruption for trainees and allow them to 
live closer to their family and social supports. The FTC reviews the selection process in detail every year and 
further changes will be required next year to ensure that we are using the best available selection tools and 
achieving the desired outcomes. 

Return to contents



Page 21

TRAINEE WELLBEING

The FTC is aware that surgical training can be very demanding and active steps are being taken to improve 
the training experience in our Program. AOA 21 is flexible by design and it will allow trainees to complete 
training at a pace that is suitable for their individual circumstances. 

Unfortunately, AOA continues to receive feedback from trainees regarding allegations of bullying or 
harassment in the workplace. AOA is actively engaging with hospitals, the Australian Orthopaedic Registrars’ 
Association and RACS in addressing allegations in multiple states and in some cases has reviewed the 
accreditation status of posts in those hospitals. We anticipate that cultural change will take time, but we have 
already seen that trainees are more willing to speak out against inappropriate behaviour than they have been 
in the past. I am confident that by addressing each of these issues as they arise, we will see changes that 
improve the trainee experience and also contribute to better patient outcomes.

I once again commend to you your dedicated FTC: RTC chairs Price Gallie (QLD), David Gill (Newcastle-
NSW), Sean Suttor (Northside-NSW), Sindy Vrancic (Southside-NSW), Chris Kondogiannis (VIC/TAS), Nicole 
Williams (outgoing SA), Jegan Krishnan (incoming SA) and Li-on Lam (WA); Senior Orthopaedic Examiner 
Richard Angliss; AORA President Chris Conyard; Jurisdictional Representative Brett Oliver; External 
Representative Susi Tegen; Dean of Education Ian Incoll; and President David Martin. 

The Federal Training Committee is very well supported by the Education and Training Team at AOA Head 
Office and the regional managers, who together support orthopaedic training across the country. I thank all 
of the Team led by Ally Keane, the FTC and the AOA Board for their support of Education and Training and 
for me over the last four years. I wish Chris and the rest of the FTC the best of luck as they complete the AOA 
21 journey and deliver for Australian patients the best-trained orthopaedic surgeons in the world.

DEAN OF EDUCATION REPORT 

Orthopaedic surgical training in Australia has been transformed over the past few years. AOA’s strategic 
educational review, created by then-president John Owen and the AOA Board in 2012, used international 
and local expertise to critique the SET program, and paved the way for a remarkable effort in modernising 
surgical education in Australia – AOA 21. 

AOA’s creation of a competency-based training program – using a clear and relevant curriculum and 
programmatic assessment, with embedded contemporary mobile-enabled learning design and technology 
– has become the exemplar of surgical training within Australia. Many other specialties are seeking our
learnings and our technology, and RACS is also promoting (and perhaps taking some credit for) our innovative
program internationally.

Although approached at many stages of the development and implementation process for their 
collaboration, it has only been in the past two years that NZOA have adopted and adapted a number of 
components of AOA 21. The AOA Board have generously supplied this intellectual property to NZOA at 

Dean of Education – Ian Incoll
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no cost. It must be pointed out that, over the past seven years, hundreds of AOA members and staff have 
contributed their expertise and thousands of hours of unpaid work to develop AOA 21, and over $3,000,000 
of member funds has been invested.

SO WHERE ARE WE NOW?

In 2019, we have three intake years that are completely within AOA 21. The transition SET trainees 
should complete their training by 2021 and the SET program will then be retired. To assess our trainees’ 
competence and progression in AOA 21, we have over 11,000 workplace-based assessments and an 
electronic logbook that has allowed, for the first time, clarity in their surgical skills experience and 
progression. Already, almost 220,000 procedures have been captured and correlation with surgical skills 
assessments is underway. The answer to the question “How much surgery, at what level of supervision, is 
required to achieve competence?” may soon have an answer based on evidence. This data has shown us 
that some procedures we have classified as ‘Level 1’ (meaning the trainee must be observed to perform 
competently) have very low numbers and will need to be reclassified.

The AOA 21 Training App has become the main portal for trainees and trainers to capture assessments and 
feedback. The feedback app is being used across the varying contexts of surgical training and prompting 
feedback conversations that otherwise may not have occurred. 

AOA selection has been a vexed issue for as many years as we have been undertaking national selection. 
Every department has wonderful junior doctors they deem worthy of training, but very few consultants can 
comprehend the simple mathematics that, for each position available, there are often six or seven of these 
“gifted” juniors applying. Most will miss out. AOA members’ referee reports have been gamed and become 
almost useless for selection, with this year’s reports scored as perfect in over one quarter of applicants. This 
leaves interview as our only fair and reliable tool. At an international surgical meeting I attended recently, 
the most practical and fair solution to this problem was considered to be to undertake review to meet a 
minimum standard, and then allocate positions through a ballot for remaining applicants. 

Analysis of our selection process for the past 13 years has also identified a bias against female applicants in 
the CV and referee-scoring components. Fortunately, this bias does not extend to the interview process. The 
Federal Training Committee now has the difficult task of redesigning selection to reduce this bias.

Education Consultant Jodie Atkin and I developed the AOA 21 Workshops five years ago to fill a perceived 
gap in teaching education for our surgical trainers. I am pleased to note that over 94 per cent of AOA 
directors of training and 82 per cent of all members involved in training have completed the four workshops: 
Workplace-based Assessment; Trainee Rotation Planning; Helping Underperforming Trainees; and Effective 
Feedback. These workshops have been very positively evaluated over the years and will now also be 
delivered to current trainees as a requirement for completion of training. A refresher workshop will be 
developed, to maintain and enhance our trainers’ surgical teaching and reinforce the value of workplace-
based assessment.

We have been promoting AOA 21 for many years and our learnings from implementation are highly sought 
after. Presentations on aspects of trainee experience, measurement of competence, training outcomes 
and diversity have or will be presented at the international orthopaedic meetings, the RACS ASC, the 
International Conference on Residency Education in Canada, the American Orthopaedic Association 
meeting in the US, state branch ASMs and the AOA national ASM.
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AOA21

2018/19 marked the first cohort to progress through the AOA 21 program. These trainees transitioned from 
Introduction to Orthopaedics into Core trainees. The evolution of the new competency-based requirements 
has revealed challenges, expected of any major change in process. I would like to acknowledge the Federal 
Training Committee and AOA board for giving trainees a platform to voice these challenges and work 
towards effective solutions. 

ACCREDITATION

Trainees were this year given the opportunity to participate in hospital accreditations. Despite initially being 
opposed to the idea, after involvement in accreditations myself, I came to realise the benefits and insight 
gained; particularly, the high standards the AOA demands to provide an optimal training environment and 
the efforts hospitals go to in order to maintain these standards. 

SELECTION

This year saw the selection of 53 new, deserving orthopaedic trainees. It was also the first year of state-based 
selection. It is proving increasingly difficult to gain selection onto the Australian orthopaedic training program, 
reflective of the quality of the training we receive. It is also becoming apparent we need to work toward 
supporting those unsuccessful applicants with AOA, RACS and the AMA currently active in this space.

GOVERNANCE

The AORA Executive were lucky enough to receive a half-day governance session prepared and delivered 
by our own CEO, Adrian Cosenza. Adrian discussed a range of sensitive, pertinent issues facing orthopaedic 
surgeons including confidentiality, advocacy, ethics and communication. Lessons learned influenced the 
invited speakers at this year’s AORA ASM which include sessions on doctor wellbeing and unethical billing.

I would finally like to acknowledge the AORA ASM for their support, hard work and advocacy. Thanks to 
Catherine Hibberd, Gajan Selvakumaran, Justine St George, Blaise Wardle, Rick Steer, Thomas Fisher, Shaun 
Waring, Thomas Clifton and Meenalochani Shunmugam.  

The evolution of the new competency-based 
requirements has revealed challenges, expected 
of any major change in process.

Australian Orthopaedic Registrars’ Association President – Chris Conyard

AORA 
Report
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Our revised CPD Program is now well embedded into practice and we are encouraged by the way in which 
our members are working to familiarise themselves with the CPD Portal and requirements for their practice 
type. The 2018 compliance statistics are very pleasing and I would like to thank all of our members for 
keeping up to date with CPD in their practice. CPD can often feel like just one more administrative task to 
‘tick off the list’, but it is far more than that. It is a significant part of meeting our responsibility to our patients 
and colleagues; to work to current standards of best practice at all times. 

AOA staff continue to work collaboratively with the CPD team at RACS to ensure that all members receive 
consistent administrative and technical support, regardless of which CPD program they choose to complete. 

CPD APP

In early 2019, AOA launched the new CPD App, which sits within the existing AOA Training App to maximise 
convenience for members. Members can now download the App on their mobile device and enter CPD 
activity anywhere, any time. Feedback on the App has been very positive and we have some improvements 
planned for implementation in the second half of 2019, which will further improve the user experience. We 
hope that the App will encourage members to stay up to date with CPD throughout the year, rather than 
wait until the deadline for submission is approaching.

No. of members undertaking the AOA CPD Program 852

No. Compliant in the AOA Program 806

% Compliant in the AOA CPD Program 95%

AOA members not undertaking CPD 0

CPD STATISTICS 2018 (AS AT JULY 2019)

*For AOA CPD reporting purposes, RACS CPD participation
data is not included.

Continuing Professional Development Chair – Colin Whitewood 

Continuing 
Professional 
Development
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PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS AND DEVELOPMENT

It is pleasing to note that the number of issues requiring intervention by the Professional Conduct and 
Standards Committee has decreased over time with the development and implementation of the AOA 
Ethical Framework, which is supported by a revised governance structure established by the Board. An 
Ethics Committee and an Advertising Complaints Subcommittee have been established to complement 
and enhance professional standards and development. The AOA Code of Conduct is in the final stages of 
revision and is aligned with the Ethical Framework.

AOA has had two very productive and informative meetings with the Australian Health Practitioner 
Regulation Agency and will continue to keep an open dialogue with them into the future.

OPERATING WITH RESPECT

I am pleased to be able to report that all practicing AOA members have now completed the online 
Operating with Respect module offered by the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons. This is an 
excellent illustration of AOA’s commitment to ensuring the highest possible standards of behaviour and 
professionalism in the orthopaedic surgery profession. I would like to acknowledge the leadership and 
dedication of AOA President David Martin in personally encouraging all members to complete the module.

I will be stepping down as Chair of Professional Conduct and Standards in October 2019, and I would like to 
extend my thanks and appreciation to all of my colleagues and the staff at AOA for their support and advice 
over the last two years. I look forward to staying involved in the important work being done by AOA in ethics 
and professionalism and I encourage all members to reflect on these matters as we work to achieve the best 
possible outcomes for our patients.
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FINANCES

The Foundation achieved a surplus of $419,926 for the year ending 30 June 2019 compared to $354,949 in 
2017/2018 – an increase of $64,977. The operating result for the year before unrealised movements in market-
related investments amounted to $364,979 compared to $257,074 for the previous year, with the difference 
arising mainly from an increase in revenue and a number of generous donations from members.

Return from investments, at $391,366, was higher than the return of $304,697 for the previous year and 
represented a return of 7.02 per cent (after deducting investment management costs) – a satisfactory result 
in the current investment environment. Unrealised gains on market-related investments for the year ended 
30 June 2019 amounted to $54,947, down from $97,875 for the previous year. Market-related movements are 
entirely outside the Directors’ control. 

During the 2018/19 year the Foundation agreed to accept funds from the NSW and VIC state branches for 
investment. The state funds are pooled with the Foundation’s funds and returns are distributed in proportion 
to the value of funds invested by the various entities. This initiative has enabled the branches to achieve 
significantly higher returns than had been experienced from investing only in term deposits, rates for which 
currently are minuscule. 

Revenue for the year was $599,801, compared to $458,602 in 2017/2018 – a significant increase. Members’ 
funds at 30 June 2019 amounted to $6,575,908, compared to $6,155,980 at 30 June 2018 – an increase of 
$419,928. There was no significant movement in administrative expenses for the year compared to the 
previous year. 

GRANTS

For the year under review (2018/2019), a total of 42 grant applications were lodged using the online platform. 
Eight grants (six regular grants and two Early Career Researcher grants) were awarded, totalling $175,553 
– an increase of $22,813 on the previous financial year. Grants actually paid in the year ended 30 June 2019
totalled $185,553. This amount varies from the value of grants approved since payments may occur up to two
years after being awarded due to requirements for ethics approval and contractual matters.

At the time of writing, the AOA Research Foundation has received 31 grant applications for 2019/2020. This 
is a significant decrease from the previous year and a notable deviation from the recent upwards trend in the 
number of grant applications submitted.

AOA Research Foundation Chair – Minoo Patel 

AOA Research 
Foundation Report
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THE FUTURE OF YOUR FOUNDATION

Under the direction of the AOA Research Foundation Strategic Plan and feedback from members, the Board 
is working on a number of new initiatives to increase the Foundation’s impact in musculoskeletal research 
and better support AOA members in their research activities. New developments that are planned or 
underway include:

• improved reporting on research funded by grants

• PhD scholarships

• longer-term financial planning, including development of a prospectus and bequest program

• revision of the grant application guidelines and criteria to ensure consistency, equity and alignment
with the Strategic Plan

• refreshed branding of the AOA Research Foundation

• implementation of a research mentorship program.

The future of the AOA Research Foundation is bright and we welcome enquires from any members 
wishing to get involved in the important work of the Foundation. I encourage all members to attend the 
AOA Research Foundation AGM at the 2019 AOA ASM in Canberra in October to find out more about the 
important work being done by AOA in this area.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF BOARD AND RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE

I would like to warmly welcome new Board members Claudia Di Bella, Sina Babazadeh and Michael Schuetz. 
I would also like to thank Allan Skirving for serving as Research Advisory Committee chair in 2018/2019 and 
welcome Zsolt Balogh as the incoming chair for 2019/2020. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the work of 
Russell Miller, who has recently stepped down from the Research Advisory Committee, and thank him for his 
service to the Foundation. 

To my remaining colleagues and AOARF staff, thank you for your hard work and dedication. I look forward to 
working with you all again in the coming year.

To advance the wonder of movement through 
musculoskeletal research.
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Orthopaedic Outreach continues to represent AOA as its humanitarian arm. This is only possible with 
the generous support of AOA, the AOA members who donate to Orthopaedic Outreach, benevolent 
organisations such as the McBain Foundation, and the medical industry. Orthopaedic Outreach deeply 
appreciates those who financially support the organisation.

The work of Orthopaedic Outreach is only possible with the selfless dedication of those who give freely of 
their time and expertise to provide assistance to our less fortunate neighbour countries.

Those deserving thanks include not only the orthopaedic surgeons who lead the visits, but the nurses, 
anaesthetists, and therapists who make up these teams. Organisation is needed to support Outreach’s work, and 
Orthopaedic Outreach is fortunate to have Mr Graham Hextell as the operational manager, Ms Beverly Hughes 
providing secretarial support, Mr John Bennett as treasurer, and a hard-working management committee.

In June 2019, the King of Tonga acknowledged his appreciation for the work of Orthopaedic Outreach by 
awarding Geoffrey Rosenberg, Mark Ridhalgh, Rodney Green, and Mr Graham Hextell as Members of the 
Royal Order of the Crown.  Andrew Leicester is to be awarded this later in the year.

The work of Orthopaedic Outreach was showcased at the AOA ASM in Perth in 2018, with speakers 
presenting on activities in Papua New Guinea, Indonesia, Iraq and the Solomon Islands, and there will be an 
equally informative Orthopaedic Outreach session at the AOA ASM in Canberra, October 2019.

Orthopaedic Outreach undertakes stand-alone visits, but also partners with other organisations such 
as RACS, through their Global Health initiative and the Pacific Islands Project, the Epworth Hospital 
Vietnam Orthopaedic Observership Program, the Pacific Islands Orthopaedic Association, the Indonesian 
Orthopaedic Association, and the AOA Asia-Pacific Committee.

During the past 12 months, Orthopaedic Outreach work has been carried out across 10 countries throughout 
the Pacific and Asia, comprising approximately 28 visits involving in the order of 110 personnel. The nature 
of the work varies depending on the requirements of each country visited, and has included clinical services, 
lecture programs, orthopaedic service planning, examiner education, and assistance with running and 
standardising exams. A major issue faced by most countries visited is a lack of equipment and the basic 
implants to treat trauma, along with difficulties in maintaining equipment.

In the next 12 months there will be a renewed emphasis on providing assistance in Papua New Guinea, a 
reconnection with Timor Leste, and an increased number of Ponseti clubfoot workshops.

Outreach work is, for those performing it, exceedingly gratifying; ask any of your colleagues who have 
become involved. To all AOA members, consider undertaking some outreach work.

Stronger links with our Pacific and Asian neighbours build. 
Camaraderie and collegiality within our region strengthen.

Orthopaedic 
Outreach Report
Orthopaedic Outreach Chair – John Tuffley 
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Membership

NEW FELLOWS

Mustafa Alttahir NSW

Brett Bairstow WA

Sam Bewsher NSW

Rachel Blackshaw VIC

Craig Brownlie WA

Alice Chang NSW

Calvin Chien NSW

Jason Chow NSW

James Coulthard NSW

Osama Elsewaisy VIC

Sarah Farrell QLD

Daniel Fisher VIC

Thomas Foote QLD

Rekha Ganeshalingam VIC

Soon Ghee Ang VIC

Ralph Gunkelman NSW

Liam Halliday VIC

Paul Harvie TAS

Anthony Houston QLD

Saleem Hussenbocus SA

Steven Kent NSW

Asher Livingston NSW

Dirk Lourens QLD

Todd Mason VIC

Lorcan McGonagle WA

Robert McNinch QLD

Daniel Myers SA

Gayan Padmasekara VIC

Adam Parr QLD

Sunil Ramawat NSW

Sumit Raniga NSW

Philip Rowell QLD

Andrew Sefton NSW

Brahman Sivakumar NSW

Mitchell Steele NSW

Andrew Stillwell QLD

Seth Tarrant NSW

Scott Taylor VIC

Lawrence Tee VIC

Alasdair Thomas QLD

Paul Thornton-Bott NSW

Praveen Vijaysegaran QLD

Tom Ward ACT

Darren Webb VIC

Keith Winters VIC

DECEASED MEMBERS

Basil Ireland NSW

Maurice (John) Gallagher QLD

Michael Polke VIC

Roland Middleton NSW

Brendan Dooley VIC

William Heape VIC

Barry Bracken NSW

Dibyendu Gope WA

Paul Kierce VIC
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2018 PERTH, ASM

The 2018 78th Annual Scientific Meeting (ASM), themed ‘Better Patient Outcomes’ was held at the Crown 
Convention Centre, Perth. The 2018 ASM attracted 1171 delegates which included 410 AOA members. The 
scientific program consisted of world-leading experts who contributed in several robust scientific discussions.

2019 CANBERRA, ASM

The 79th Annual Scientific Meeting, themed ‘Teamwork and Engagement’, will be held at National Convention 
Centre, Canberra. The scientific program will consist of concurrent subspeciality sessions and plenaries.

The theme of the 2018 ASM was ‘Better  
Patient Outcomes’ and apart from the usual 
stellar national and international faculty, 
several successful plenaries were held.

Scientific Secretary – Ian Harris 

Scientific 
Report
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QLD 
363 (20%)

NSW 
594 (33%)

VIC 
408 (23%)

NT 

SA 
155 (9%)

WA 
182 (10%)

33 (2%)

ACT 
29 (2%)

MEMBERS 
BY STATE

4  (<1%)
International

TAS 
28 (2%)

Graham Mercer

Stuart Myers

Roger Hargraves, Stephen Ruff 
& George Sikorski

Andrew Wines

Paul Smith & Piers Yates

Paul Pincus & Kevin Woods

Onder Aydingoz

David Marshall, David McNicol 
& David Sonnabend

L O Betts Memorial Medal:

Humanitarian Service Award:

Medal for Meritorious Service: 

Award for Leadership:

Orthopaedic Research Award:

Service to Orthopaedic Education:

Honorary Fellowship:

Life Fellowship:

HONOURS & AWARDS

AGE RANGE  
OF PRACTICING 
AOA MEMBERS 

(Dates of birth by decade)

Before 1940
41 (3%)

1940-1949
108 (7%)

1950-1959
216 (14%)

1960-1969
358 (23%)

1970-1979
503 (32%)

1980 Onwards
334 (21%)

Members as of 30 
June 2018 = 1796

Practicing 
members as of 30 
June 2019 = 1560

Corresponding
6 (<1%)

Affiliate
13 (1%)

Senior Affiliate
3 (<1%) Fellow

1250 (70%)

Trainees
235 (13%)

Senior Fellows
241 (13%)

Life Fellows
27 (2%)

International
9 (<1%)

Honourary
12 (1%)

TOTAL

MEMBER 
TYPES
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 AOA STRATEGY
AOA STRATEGIC PLAN 

2019–2021

 

ADVOCACY

MEMBERSHIP 

Deliverables Actioned

Completed

1796
AOA members

of Australian orthopaedic 
surgeons are AOA members

50
AOA 21 workshops delivered

AOA DoTs & 
82% of all involved,

have completed
all workshops

7594%
Hours of 
training 

complete

11%

86%

235AOA trainees

 EDUCATION AND TRAINING

ETHICS

 

Milestones Complete
94%

Tasks Complete
91%

 

Estimated value of media profile incl. 
OzHarvest CEO CookOff coverage

$2.8
MILLION+

SATISFACTION RATING

86%
2019 Annual
Member Survey
+4% in 12 months

AOA 21

MEDIA PROFILE

466136
mentions

ASSISTANCE

AOA assisted patients, surgeons, 
government and NGOs with 466 
advocacy issues, 2013-19

procedures logged 
by trainees FY18-1993,212

IMPLEMENTATION 
PLAN

7 complete

14 in progress

25%
50%

Facts & Figures
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CONTRIBUTIONS

 
 

contributed 
since 2013 to 
subspecialties 
and other 
bodies

RACS FEES

paid to RACS 
in training fees, 
2008–2018 

 ACTIVE AOA 
CONTRACTS

755
 RISK CONTROLS AND ACTIONS

Up 25% over 
12 months681

10 28

 

Research 
Foundation 
grants 
awarded, 
2013–18 

CDP

OPERATIONS

EVENTS COMMUNICATIONS & IT

OUTREACHRESEARCH

99%CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT COMPLIANCE

for 2017

$36K+

APPROVAL

OUTREACH

over $36,000 donated to

EVENTS ATTENDEES

16,841
attendees at AOA events, 2013–18

Attendees rated events as 
very good or excellent

Orthopaedic Outreach through
AOA events, 2015–18

92.5%

$948k 

Up 83% in 
three years

$2.5
MILLION

$7.3
MILLION

WEBSERVER
Webserver uptime

AOA WEBSITE
ENGAGEMENT

SOCIAL MEDIA 
FOLLOWERS

Up 44%

Up 32%

Up 50%

1321

4300+ +13%

750

 
Visits per user
vs FY17-18

+5%
Pages per visit
vs FY17-18

-11%
Bounce rate
vs FY17-18

Countries assisted

100+ personnel, including 
AOA members and colleagues

Visits

99.99%
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1,492,892
Total number of joint 

replacement procedures 
recorded in the Registry 

at the end of 2018 
Individual Surgeon Outcome 

Reports produced

1388 
CPD Certificates released 

online via secure 
Surgeon Portal

39
Hospital 
Audit 
Reports 
produced

Automated Industry 

Reporting System (AIRS)

produced 802 reports

in 2018

2018 Annual 
Report 

downloaded 

31,883 
times

Lay Summary 
downloaded 

2,008 
times

PROMs Patient Reported Outcomes
Measures Pilot Study

45 
hospitals 

participating

9,116 
Pre-op PROMs 

recorded

2,277 
Post-op 
PROMs 

recorded

Grant Funded Projects
•  Stakeholder Access to Real-time PROMs

Data for Joint Replacement, Rapid Applied
Research Translation (RART), MRFF Grant.

•  CRISTAL - Comparing Two Standard Drug
Protocols used for Preventing Venous
Thromboembolism (VTE) Prophylaxis after
Joint Replacement: A 10,000 Patient Registry
Nested Clinical Trial (RNCT) MRFF Grant.

•  Enhancing Joint Replacement Outcomes
through National Data Linkage, NHMRC
Grant.

•  Rehabilitation Outcomes for Patients
Receiving Joint Replacements: A
Data Linkage Project, HCF Grant.

•  Are Total Hip and Knee
Replacements Associated with
an Increased Cancer Risk?
A Nationwide Cohort Study.

ICT 
System 

built to deliver 
Registry Nested 

Clinical Trials 
(RNCTs)

2018
Joint replacement 
procedures in 2018

122,500
879 

228
Ad Hoc Reports 

produced

Journal Articles 
Published 22

Podium 
Presentations 65

Conference 
Posters 13

Knee Osteotomy 
Registry

25 
Hospitals
now 
approved 

and another 21 
hospitals with approval 
processes underway

AOANJRR highlights of

Projects underway

Reporting
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Hip & knee data 
collection commenced1999

First AOANJRR 
Annual Report2000

Full national 
collection achieved2002

Declared a Federal Quality 
Assurance Activity (FQAA)1999

Shoulder, wrist, ankle & 
spinal disc data collection 
commences nationally

2007

FQAA protection from 
subpoena upheld in court2014

Over 1 million joint 
replacement procedures 
recorded

2015

Partnership established 
with the South Australian 
Health & Medical Research 
Institute and relocation to 
the Biomedical Precinct

2015

Automated Industry 
Reporting System developed2018

PROMs data collection 
commenced2018

Registry Nested Clinical 
Trials commenced2019

20YEARS
OF THE

AOANJRR

Annual individual Surgeon 
Outcome Reports released 
online

2016

Partnership with University 
of Adelaide established1999

First surgeon workshop held 
to review Annual Report2007

Federal funding legislated2009

Secure online portals 
launched providing 
outcome data

2012

20th Annual Report produced2019
Return to contents



Page 36

On AOA leadership of the ACF and contributions to APEC ethics meetings

Reflections from 
around the world

“…One of the best #meded projects I have  
ever collaborated on. All-star team and a  

dedicated community…”

Jason Frank, international medical education expert, Canada

“AOA now stands out as 
a beacon of corporate 
social responsibility…”

Ronni Kahn, OzHarvest

On AOA 21 – The Association’s flagship education and training initiative

On the AOA Board’s support for the AOA 
CEO’s fundraising efforts and consequent

increase in the profile of orthopaedic surgery

 “Your organization’s longstanding commitment inspires 
policymakers across 21 economies...”

Christopher White, AdvaMed CEO, USA

“…the world’s largest consensus framework is a 
significant achievement…”

Diane Farrell, US Dept of Commerce

“…AOA is setting a new 
standard...”

Niall Jefferson, ENT surgeon

On the AOA Emerging Leaders Forum
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“… the orthopaedic surgeons... they’re the frontrunners 
here. The [AOANJRR] is very much a product of the 

endeavour of a committed group of surgeons, committed 
to excellence.”

Mark Cormack, Federal Department of Health

On the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR)

“Wherever I meet 
colleagues from overseas 

they comment on how 
impressive the Aust  
Joint Registry is...”

Anonymous survey

“AOA has one of the 
largest joint arthroplasty 
registries in the world…”

Per Kjærsgaard-Andersen, 
EFORT, Europe

On AOA Conferences and Events

“…delivering an international scientific meeting with 
varied stakeholders is certainly a challenge… [AOA] was 

able to achieve this seamlessly.”

Denise Caruso, ANZSA

“I would certainly like to single out 
AOACEM for their professionalism, 
efficiency and attention to detail...”

David Parker, Asia-Pacific Knee, Arthroscopy 
and Sports Medicine Society

“Their organisational skills 
are second to none...”

Drew Dixon, Australian Medico-Legal College
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On AOA’s contribution to the International Medical Education Leadership Forum (IMELF)

“We cannot overstate our gratitude…”

Andrew Padmos and Viren Naik, Royal College of Physicians 
and Surgeons of Canada

On Orthopaedic Women’s Link workshops for junior doctors and those aspiring to a
career in orthopaedics

“I walked away with a clearly changed 
perception of what orthopaedic surgeons 

are like.”

“As a smaller-framed, ethnic-minority female,  
it was inspiring and reassuring to meet a smaller-framed, 

ethnic-minority female who was a trauma boss.”

“I love, love, LOVED this workshop!!”

Anonymous feedback from junior doctors and medical students

On AOA’s governance education sessions

“AOA has really pioneered the development  
of Governance Structure and also Surgical 

Education in Australia.”

Stuart Philip, Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
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Board Committees 
and Chairs
As at 30 June 2019

BOARD COMMITTEE CHAIR
Board of Directors David Martin

ABC Travelling Fellowships Committee Bill Donnelly

Asia-Pacific Committee
Andrew Beischer - completed May 2019;  

Ton Tran – commenced May 2019

President's and State Chairs' Committee David Martin

Audit and Risk Management Committee Andrew Ellis

Continuing Orthopaedic Education Chris Vertullo

Continuing Professional Development Committee Colin Whitewood

Federal Training Committee Omar Khorshid

Advertising Complaints Subcommittee Michael Gillespie

Clinical Quality Interim Committee Michael Gillespie

Fellowships Committee David Dickison

Honours and Nominations Committee David Martin

IMG Assessment Committee Ian Incoll

AOANJRR Committee David Hale

AOA National Joint Replacement Registry Academic 
Advisory Panel Committee

Don Howie

Orthopaedic Women’s link (OWL) Committee Jennifer Green

Professional Conduct and Standards Committee Colin Whitewood

Research Committee Peter Choong

Rural Surgeons Committee Chris Morrey

Spinal PFET Committee Myron Rogers

Subspecialty Presidents Committee David Martin

Ethics Committee David Martin

AD HOC COMMITTEE OR WORKING GROUP CHAIR
Champions of Change Working Group Andrew Ellis

Code of Conduct Review Committee Colin Whitewood

Digital Imaging Committee Bill Donnelly

Patient Education Committee Andrew Beischer

Workforce Working Group Lawrence Malisano

Masters and Co-Badging Working Group Peter Choong
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Board Directors
As at 30 June 2019

PRESIDENT

CHAIR OF EDUCATION 
AND TRAINING

FIRST VICE-PRESIDENT

CHAIR OF PROFESSIONAL 
CONDUCT AND STANDARDS

SECOND VICE-PRESIDENT

SCIENTIFIC SECRETARY

AORA PRESIDENTGENERAL DIRECTOR  
AND TREASURER

GENERAL DIRECTOR

STATE CHAIR DIRECTOR

D MARTIN

O KHORSHID C WHITEWOOD I HARRIS

C CONYARDM DAMIANIC MORREY

M PIRPIRIS

A ELLIS M GILLESPIE
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SUMMARY

The year ended 30 June 2019 was AOA’s 83rd year of operations and it is pleasing to report that a surplus 
of $757,215 was achieved for the year compared to $479,251 in the previous year. AOA began the year with 
a proposed budget surplus of $35,000, and at times achieving that financial outcome seemed somewhat 
improbable.

The result from the ASM in Perth proved to be substantially smaller than those held on the east coast, 
but the principle of distributed ASMs across the nation remains important in serving our membership. 
Additionally, the COE on leadership in Melbourne, also a great meeting, attracted a smaller (but strongly 
interested) group, but with a financial result weaker than typical. Some of the state branch meetings ran at 
small deficits, but reflected strength and invigoration in local meetings for members.

However, the final result for the year was assisted in two areas. Firstly, the AOANJRR income was boosted by 
the Automated Industry Reporting System (AIRS), which has proved to be a sought-after and popular report for 
industry. Secondly there were strong unrealised gains on market-related investments amounting to $445,235, 
slightly down on the $452,464 of unrealised gains in year ended 30 June 2018. It should be noted that forecast 
investment returns for 2019/20 are less optimistic as the market remains volatile with a high level of uncertainty.

AOA’s operational surplus before the unrealised gain was $311,980 compared to $26,687 for the previous year.

Members will doubtless remember that in the Treasurer’s Report for the last few years (beginning in 2012) 
mention was made of the amount invested each year in strategic initiatives, and in particular, in the AOA 21 
Project. Last year’s report advised members that the AOA 21 Project was well into its implementation stage 
and that the directors had decided that it should no longer be reported as a strategic initiative. In the year 
ended 30 June 2019, development of AOA 21 continued but the costs of implementation have reduced 
significantly and the main development costs going forward are for capital expenditure related to a digital 
transformation of Training processes.

The surplus for the year of $757,215 was contributed by Head Office operations, $472,492; state branches, 
$24,066; AOA National Joint Replacement Registry, $250,615; and other entities, $10,042.

INVESTMENTS

Income from investments for the year amounted to $678,722 compared to $520,974 in the previous year, an 
increase of $157,748. Despite the downward trend in interest rates, the return for the year is satisfactory. The 
investment outlook at present is quite uncertain due in large part to the uneasy relationship between the 
USA and China over matters of trade, and a close watch is being kept on the allocation of the investment 
funds by AOA’s advisers. As noted earlier, strong gains have been experienced on market-related securities 
for the last two years. The value of the investment portfolio at 30 June 2019 was $14,552,611 compared to 

Treasurer – Maurizio Damiani 
First Vice President – Andrew Ellis

Treasurer 
Report
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$12,947,184 at 30 June 2018, an increase of $1,605,427. During the year under review, the New South Wales 
and Victoria state branches transferred surplus funds out of term deposits and into AOA’s investment corpus.

Centric Wealth, a member of the Findex Group, continues to provide management of AOA’s investment 
portfolio and the Board’s Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees Centric’s management by 
meeting with them twice annually for discussions and strategic overview.

REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Revenue for the year was $11,944,504 compared to $12,049,118 in the previous year, a decrease of 0.9%. 
Income from scientific meetings for the year was disappointing, mainly as a result of poor support for the 
Perth annual scientific meeting. Revenue benefited, however, from the implementation by the AOA National 
Joint Replacement Registry of AIRS, which permits industry to obtain reports on demand. The system has 
been very well received and has contributed to robust revenue from this activity.

Total expense for the year also decreased, amounting to $11,632,524 compared to $12,022,431 in 2017/18, a 
reduction of $389,907 (3.2%).

Costs of meetings were $741,122 lower than the previous year, mainly a result of lower attendances at the 
Perth ASM attracting less cost and also lower venue costs than the previous year. As noted earlier, costs for 
the AOA 21 Project were lower and were around $420,000 less than the previous year. Employment costs 
increased by 11.1% as a result of the redeployment of staff previously engaged in the AOA 21 Project and 
whose costs were previously allocated to that project, the costs of providing maternity leave to two members 
of staff, and CPI increases.

MEMBERSHIP

Membership at 30 June 2019 totalled 1,796, an increase of 34 compared to 30 June 2018. Membership 
subscriptions for the year, including branches, amounted to $2,000,374 compared to $1,768,130 for 2017/18, 
an increase of $232,244. The increase in membership income comprised income from new members, a 
CPI increase of 2.3%, increases determined by state branches, and a special levy to cover higher hospital 
accreditation costs.

MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Members’ funds increased by $757,215 in the year to 30 June 2019 to $17,880,823, up from $17,123,609 at 30 
June 2018.

The financial statements accompanying this report continue to be issued by the directors as special 
purpose financial statements. In accordance with its annual practice, the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee reviewed whether the issue of special purpose financial statements continued to be 
appropriate and concluded that it was appropriate and so recommended to the Board. It continues to be 
Board policy that, notwithstanding the financial statements being issued as special purpose statements, 
they should conform as closely as possible with general purpose financial statements and comply with all 
relevant accounting standards.

A new accounting standard, AASB 1058, came into force for financial years commencing on or after 1 
January 2019 and has force, therefore, for AOA from 1 July 2019. One of the aspects of this standard is that 
where contributions of volunteer services can be reliably measured they should be reported in the income 
statement. Work was done during the year under review to determine the impact of the new standard and to 
formulate a methodology for measuring such contributions. Estimates of volunteer contributions indicate that 
approximately 2,300 days are contributed annually by members to the work of the Board, Federal Training 
Committee, other Board committees, to the AOA Training Program and the AOA National Joint Replacement 
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Registry. AOA is fortunate indeed to have such a committed membership and the voluntary contributions are 
acknowledged with much appreciation.

GOVERNANCE

The Audit and Risk Management Committee met three times during the year ended 30 June 2019 under the 
leadership of Vice-President Andrew Ellis. The other members of the Committee are Michael Gillespie (Second 
Vice-President), Maurizio Damiani (General Director/Treasurer), and Nathan Patrick (Independent Member).

The Committee’s brief is to provide assurance to the Board by reviewing financial matters in more depth than 
is possible for the Board, providing oversight for AOA’s risk-management practices and procedures, reviewing 
compliance with statutory requirements, and meeting with AOA’s investment managers and the auditor. AOA 
managers meet twice per year with the chief executive officer to review the risk-management system and the 
results of those meetings are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and then to the Board.

The directors are most appreciative of the services of Nathan Patrick, who sits on the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee as the independent member and provides his services pro bono. His expertise is 
highly valued by the Committee.

The Committee met with AOA’s auditor prior to the financial statements being reviewed by the Board 
to ensure there were no unresolved issues or concerns in connection with the statements and received 
assurance in that regard.

Maurizio Damiani Andrew Ellis 
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For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial 
Report
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DIRECTORS

The name of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of the report is:

DIRECTOR TITLE* APPOINTED / RESIGNED
L P Malisano President Resigned 10/10/2018

D K Martin President Appointed 10/10/2012

A M Ellis First Vice President 
Chair - Audit and Risk Management Committee

Appointed 10/10/2011

M J Gillespie Second Vice President Appointed 10/10/2018

M Damiani General Director/Treasurer Appointed 12/10/2016

I A Harris Scientific Secretary Appointed 14/10/2015

M Lee President of AORA 
(Australian Orthopaedic Registrars Association)

Resigned 10/10/2018

O Khorshid Chair - Education & Training Appointed 14/10/2015

C N Morrey General Director Appointed 14/10/2015

M Pirpiris State Branch Director Appointed 11/10/2017

C N Whitewood Chair - Professional Conduct and Standards Appointed 11/10/2017

C Conyard President of AORA 
(Australian Orthopaedic Registrars Association)

Appointed 10/10/2018

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 
*Title as at 30 June 2019 or upon resignation.

Your directors present this report on the Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019.

Directors’ 
Report
For the year ended 30 June 2019
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DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS

Each director is an orthopaedic surgeon. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND COMPANY SECRETARY

A R Cosenza BCom, MCom, MBA (IMD), FCPA, FAICD, FFinsia

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Association during the year was to give effect to the company’s objectives 
described below.

The company’s objectives, both short and long term, are to:

(a) Foster and maintain the highest standard of surgical practice and ethics in orthopaedic surgery;

(b) Advance the practice of orthopaedic surgery;

(c) Promote research into musculoskeletal conditions;

(d)  Provide postgraduate education in orthopaedic surgery and, as necessary, accreditation in orthopaedic
surgery;

(e) Support orthopaedic humanitarian initiatives in Australia and overseas;

(f) Foster scientific interchange between orthopaedic surgeons; and

(g) Act as an authority and adviser in relation to musculoskeletal conditions and orthopaedic surgery.

STRATEGIES

To achieve these objectives, the company has adopted a strategy of requiring that all proposals presented 
for Board approval include statements describing how the proposals comply with and advance the 
company’s objectives.

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative 
benchmarks. The benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the company 
and whether the company’s objectives are being met.

2019 2018

Service quality – measured by member satisfaction surveys 86% 82%

Number of trainee surgeons 235 239

Fellowship exam pass rates 80% 58%

Advocacy submissions to government bodies 5 5

Membership – total members 1,796 1,762

AOA member percentage of total Australian orthopaedic surgeons 98% 98%

Number of scientific meetings (completed or in planning) 53 60

Website visitors 66,614 83,487
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OPERATING RESULTS

The surplus of the Association amounted to $757,215 (2017-2018 surplus of $479,251).

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

During the financial year ten meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director were as follows:

NUMBER ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND NUMBER ATTENDED

L P Malisano 5 4

D K Martin 10  10

A M Ellis 10 8

M J Gillespie  5 5

M Damiani 10 9

I A Harris 10 6

O Khorshid 10 6

M Lee 5 5

C N Morrey 10 10

M Pirpiris 10 8

C N Whitewood 10  9

C Conyard 5 5

MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2019, the total amount that 
members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $17,940 (2018 $17,620).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2019 can be found adjacent to this 
directors’ report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

D K Martin M Damiani 
President and Chair Treasurer

Dated this 3rd day of September 2019
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Auditors’ 
Independence 
Declaration

I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief that during the year ended 30 June 2019 there have been 
no contraventions of:

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Keanu Arya 
Engagement Partner

28 August 2019

Stirling International 
Chartered Accountants 
Level 3, 225 Clarence Street 
Sydney, NSW 2000

Under section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 

To the directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association
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OPINION

In our opinion, the financial report of Australian Orthopaedic Association for the year ended 30 June 2019 is 
in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of Australian Orthopaedic Association’s financial position as at 30 June 2019
and of its performance for the year then ended; and

(b)    complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1.

The financial report of Australian Orthopaedic Association, which we have audited, comprises the following 
statements as at 30 June 2019 and for the year then ended:

• Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income;

• Statement of Financial Position;

• Statement of Changes in Equity;

• Statement of Cash Flows;

• Notes to the financial statements, comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other
explanatory information; and

• Directors’ Declaration.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing 
Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of Australian Orthopaedic 
Association in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
the relevant ethical requirements for financial report audits. These include the relevant independence 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants. We have also fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, which has been given to the directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association, would 
be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

To the members of Australian 
Orthopaedic Association

Independent 
Auditor’s Report
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BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the 
basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the directors’ 
financial reporting responsibilities under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. 
As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL REPORT

The directors of Australian Orthopaedic Association are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 
to the financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and is appropriate to meet the needs of the members. The directors’ responsibilities 
also include such internal control the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing Australian Orthopaedic 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing matters related to going concern as 
applicable and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Stirling International

Keanu Arya 
Engagement Partner

3 September 2019

Stirling International 
Chartered Accountants 
Level 3, 225 Clarence Street 
Sydney, NSW 2000 
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The directors of the Australian Orthopaedic Association declare that in the directors’ opinion:

1. The financial statements and notes set out below and on the following pages are in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission Act 2012, and
(a) comply with the Australian Accounting Standards; and
(b)  give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the

year ended on that date.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013.

D K Martin M Damiani 
President and Chair Treasurer

Dated this 3rd day of September 2019

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Directors’ 
Declaration
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTE 2019  
$

2018 
$

Revenue

Revenue 2 11,944,504 12,049,118

Total Revenue 11,944,504 12,049,118

Expenses

Employment  3(a) 3,227,316 2,903,734

Scientific meetings and conferences 2,495,171 3,236,293

Administration 591,382 563,373

Advertising and promotion 88,069 59,627

Depreciation and amortisation  3(b) 133,647 166,670

Grants 343,409 291,643

Occupancy 242,837 234,437

Prizes, fellowships and awards 34,760 24,693

Professional services 3(c) 159,937 112,969

Project expenditures - AOANJRR 3,536,434 3,229,493

Project expenditures - AOA 21 40,967 468,423

Travel and accommodation 638,998 569,636

Finance costs 29,379 28,526

Other 70,218 132,914

Total expenses 11,632,524 12,022,431

Surplus for the year before income tax 311,980 26,687

Income tax expense - -

Surplus for the year 311,980 26,687

Other comprehensive income:  
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to  
profit and loss when specific conditions are met

Increment on value of investments 445,235 452,564

Total other comprehensive income for the year 445,235 452,564

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to the members of the Association

757,215 479,251

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2019

NOTE 2019  
$

2018 
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 4,789,448 6,135,969

Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 2,345,976 3,438,242

Financial assets 7 1,643,916 932,876

Other current assets 6 822,219 683,193

Total current assets 9,601,559 11,190,280

Non-current assets

Financial assets 7 12,908,695 12,014,308

Property, plant and equipment 8 129,838 190,200

Intangible assets 9 578,278 431,638

Total non-current assets 13,616,811 12,636,146

Total assets 23,218,370 23,826,426

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and other payables 10 4,872,706 6,342,579

Employee provisions 11 226,402 199,885

Total current liabilities 5,099,108 6,542,464

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 11 238,439 160,353

Total non-current liabilities 238,439 160,353

Total liabilities 5,337,547 6,702,817

Net assets 17,880,823 17,123,609

Equity

Retained surplus 17,880,823 17,123,609

Total Equity 17,880,823 17,123,609

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2019

RETAINED EARNINGS  
$

Balance at 1 July 2017  16,644,358 

Comprehensive income

Surplus for the year  26,687 

Other comprehensive income  452,564 

Total comprehensive income 479,251

Balance at 30 June 2018  17,123,609 

Comprehensive income

Surplus for the year 311,980

Other comprehensive income 445,235

Total comprehensive income 757,215

Balance at 30 June 2019  17,880,823 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTE 2019  
$

2018 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from:

Members' subscriptions 1,678,690 1,766,012

Training activities 1,909,635 1,659,162

Grants and donations 2,337,844 3,227,931

Scientific meetings and conferences 2,960,150 4,565,298

Investment income 655,625 505,562

Other income 2,344,722 1,457,200

Net goods and services tax paid (186,831) (99,000)

Payments to suppliers and employees (11,666,239) (11,380,952)

Net cash provided by operating activities 12 33,596 1,701,213

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for plant and equipment 8 (9,082) (10,913)

Payment for intangibles 9 (210,844) (212,426)

Investment in managed funds (1,160,191) (415,526)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,380,117) (638,865)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (1,346,521) 1,062,348

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 6,135,969 5,073,621

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 4 4,789,448 6,135,969

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

General information and statement of compliance

The financial statements cover Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited as an entity. Australian Orthopaedic 
Association is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the basis that the company is a non-reporting entity 
because there are no users who are dependent on its general purpose financial statements. These financial 
statements are therefore special purpose financial statements that have been prepared in order to meet the 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 under the reduced disclosure 
regime. The association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting 
Standards.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the significant accounting policies disclosed below, which the directors have determined are 
appropriate to meet the needs of members. Such accounting policies are consistent with those of previous 
periods unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and 
are based on historical costs unless otherwise stated in the notes. Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless 
stated otherwise. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
directors of the company on 3 September 2019.

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are 
summarised below.

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by Australian Accounting 
Standards for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully 
described in the accounting policies below.

A. Revenue

Revenue comprises revenue from government grants, membership, subscriptions, training fee and income
from meetings. Breakdown in revenue is shown in Note 2.

Government grant

Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the profit or loss when the entity obtains control of the grant
and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount
of the grant can be measured reliably.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised
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in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, 
otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

Contribution from members

Membership fees revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established.

When training fees are received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
to the trainee, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the training revenue is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the trainee.

Donations and bequests 

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 

Interest and Dividend 

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Dividend income 
is recognised at the time the right to receive payment is established.

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the members.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

B. Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and any impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis
of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent
disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining
recoverable amounts.

In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the recoverable amount,
the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount. A formal
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1D
for details of impairment).

Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost, or for nominal cost, are recognised at the
fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but
excluding freehold land, is depreciated either on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the
entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use or by diminishing value. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful lives of the improvements.
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The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET DEPRECIATION RATE
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 20% - 40%

Plant and equipment 20% - 40%

Library 20% - 25%

Leasehold improvements 20%

Intangibles 20% - 40%

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets are 
sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

C. Financial Instruments

With the implementation of AASB 9 Financial Instruments for the first time in 2019, the company classifies
its financial assets in the following categories:

(a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

(b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; and

(a) financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Comparatives have not been restated on initial application. 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Financial assets included in this category need to meet two criteria:

1. the financial asset is held in order to collect the contractual cash flows; and

2.  the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
outstanding amount.

Amortised cost is determined using the effective interest method.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the financial assets 
either doesn’t meet the criteria of financial assets held at amortised cost or at FVOCI (i.e. mandatorily held 
at FVTPL) or may be designated. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset. 
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Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period based on Expected 
Credit Losses, using the general approach which measures the loss allowance based on an amount equal 
to lifetime expected credit losses where risk has significantly increased, or an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit losses if risk has not increased. 

The simplified approach for trade, contract and lease receivables is used. This approach always measures 
the loss allowance as the amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses.

A write-off constitutes a derecognition event where the write-off directly reduces the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

D. Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair amount less costs
to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon on the asset’s ability to
generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future
economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class of asset, the entity estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation surplus
in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in
the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

E. Employee Provisions

Short-term employee provisions

Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as a part of accounts payable and other payables in the statement of financial position.

Contributions are made by the entity to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as expenses
when incurred.

Other long-term employee provisions

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render
the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected
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future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage 
and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined 
by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity 
dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other 
long-term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of 
employee benefits expense. 

The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current employee 
provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the company does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the 
obligations are presented as current provisions. 

F. Cash on Hand

Cash on hand equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

G. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from members and any outstanding grant
receipts. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are
classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.

H. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

I. Income Tax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

J. Intangibles

Software

Software is recorded at cost. It has a finite life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Software has an estimated useful life of between one and three years. It is assessed
annually for impairment.
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K. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events,
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably
measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the
obligation at the end of the reporting period.

L. Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with
changes in presentation for the current financial year.

Where the company retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassifies items in its financial statements, a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements must be presented.

M. Accounts Payable and Other Payables

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for
goods and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain unpaid. The
balance is recognised as a current liability with the amount being normally paid within 30 days of
recognition of the liability.

N. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation
of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and
within the company.

Key estimates

Impairment

The company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and
events specific to the company that may be indicative of impairment triggers.

Key judgements

Employee benefits

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119 Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term
employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related services. The company expects most
employees will take their annual leave entitlements within 24 months of the reporting period in which they
were earned, but this will not have a material impact on the amounts recognised in respect of obligations
for employees’ leave entitlements.

O. Economic Dependence

The Australian Orthopaedic Association is not dependent on external agencies or government for the
majority of its revenue used to operate the business.
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P. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards that have mandatory
application dates for future accounting periods, some of which are relevant to the company. The company
has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements. The company’s assessment
of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the company but applicable in future
reporting periods is set out below.

AASB 16 Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to leases in
AASB 117 Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that
eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified as operating or finance leases.

The main changes introduced by the new Standard include:

-  recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short-term leases with less than
12 months of tenure and leases relating to low-value assets);

-  depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment in profit or
loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest components;

-  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in the initial measurement of
the lease liability using the index or rate at the commencement date;

-  by applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to elect not to separate non-lease
components and instead account for all components as a lease; and

- additional disclosure requirements.

The company will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019, with a right of use asset and lease liability balance 
of $217,724. 

 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019).

When effective, this Standard supersedes most of income recognition requirements, previously in AASB 
1004 Contributions. 

This standard applies to:

• transactions where consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value, principally to
enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives; and

• receipt of volunteer services.

On initial recognition of an asset an entity must recognise any related contributions by owners, increases in 
liabilities, decreases in assets and revenue in accordance with other Australian Accounting Standards.

Entities must recognise the difference between the fair value of the asset and any related amounts as 
income in the profit and loss.

Volunteer services are recognised if:

• they would have been purchased if not provided voluntarily; and

• the fair value of those services can be measured reliably.
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AASB 1058 is to be applied either:

(a) retrospectively with adjustments to comparatives; or

(b)  retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial adjustments recognised in retained earnings on the
‘date of initial application’ with no restatement of comparatives.

The directors have adopted this standard with effect from 1 July 2019.

NOTE 2 REVENUE

2019  
$

2018  
$

Revenue and other income

Members’ subscriptions 2,000,374 1,768,130

Training activities 1,885,737 1,714,197

Scientific meetings and conferences 3,014,607 4,317,872

Commonwealth funding - AOA National Joint Replacement Registry 2,376,000 2,379,000

Interest and dividend 678,722 520,974

Other (see below) 1,989,064 1,348,945

11,944,504 12,049,118

Other Revenue (see above)

Accredited fellowships 38,305 27,977

Administration and secretarial fees 39,600 39,600

Advertising 18,424 27,678

Advertising - AOA Bulletin 97,097 63,778

Fellowships administration 228,930 222,289

Royalties 10,562 9,441

AOANJRR Reports 1,411,350 866,464

Governance Rebate 78,162 76,629

Research Grants 33,500 -

Payroll Tax Refund - 7,341

eProceedings 3,618 1,749

Contracted services 29,516 5,999

1,989,064 1,348,945
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NOTE 3 EXPENSES

2019  
$

2018  
$

a) Employment

Wages and salaries 2,899,833 2,593,543

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 233,288 222,540

Employee benefit provisions 85,286 80,687

Other benefits 8,909 6,964

3,227,316 2,903,734

b) Depreciation and amortisation

Building improvements 60,359 60,359

Computer equipment 8,945 7,274

Furniture and fittings 32 40

Plant and equipment 107 142

Intangibles 64,204 98,855

133,647 166,670

c) Professional Services

Remuneration of auditors

for auditing services 24,000 24,000

Consulting fees 82,432 25,067

Legal fees 53,505 63,902

159,937 112,969

NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019  
$

2018  
$

Cash on hand 500 500

Cash at bank 2,912,572 3,319,120

Term deposits 1,876,376 2,816,349

4,789,448 6,135,969

Term deposits are with banks at yields of 2.4% to 2.6%.
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NOTE 5 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS

2019  
$

2018  
$

Accounts receivable 2,110,404 1,675,139

Commonwealth Department of Health - AOANJRR grant funding 221,151 1,742,400

Interest receivable 14,421 20,703

2,345,976 3,438,242

NOTE 6 OTHER ASSETS

2019  
$

2018  
$

Prepaid expenses 309,994 441,982

Deposits paid for scientific meetings 512,225 241,211

822,219 683,193

NOTE 7 FINANCIAL ASSETS

2019  
$

2018  
$

Short term financial assets

Cash held in managed funds 477,316 357,876

Fixed term deposits 1,166,600 575,000

1,643,916 932,876

Long term financial assets

Fixed term deposits - 1,457,600

Quoted securities at fair value 12,908,695 10,556,708

12,908,695 12,014,308

Total Financial Assets 14,552,611 12,947,184

The company’s financial assets comprise short term deposits and quoted securities. The short term deposits 
have fixed interest rates between 3.95% and 4.40% and mature in October 2019. The securities are stated 
at fair value and denominated in Australian dollars. These financial assets are managed by Findex Advice 
Services Pty Ltd (formely known as Centric Wealth Advisers Limited).
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NOTE 8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

2019  
$

2018  
$

Improvements

At cost 301,309 301,309

Less accumulated amortisation (220,616) (160,257)

80,693 141,052

Plant and equipment

At cost 226,716 217,634

Less accumulated depreciation (177,571) (168,486)

49,145 49,148

Total property, plant and equipment 129,838 190,200

Movements in carrying amount

Improvements  
$

Plant and equipment  
$

Total  
$

2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 201,411 45,734 247,145

Additions at cost - 10,913 10,913

Depreciation expense (60,359) (7,499) (67,858)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 141,052 49,148 190,200

2019

Balance at the beginning of the year 141,052 49,148 190,200

Additions at cost - 9,081 9,081

Depreciation expense (60,359) (9,084) (69,443)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 80,693 49,145 129,838
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NOTE 9 INTANGIBLES

2019  
$

2018  
$

Intangibles - AOA 21

At cost 672,689 545,546

Less accumulated amortisation (204,427) (158,935)

468,262 386,611

Intangibles - other

At cost 389,587 305,869

Less accumulated amortisation (279,571) (260,842)

110,016 45,027

Total Intangibles 578,278 431,638

Movements in carrying amount

AOA 21  
$

Other  
$

Total 
Intangibles  

$

2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 250,870 67,197 318,067

Additions at cost 212,426 - 212,426

Amortisation expense (76,685) (22,170) (98,855)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 386,611 45,027 431,638

2019

Balance at the beginning of the year 386,611 45,027 431,638

Additions at cost 127,143 83,701 210,844

Amortisation expense (45,492) (18,712) (64,204)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 468,262 110,016 578,278
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NOTE 10 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

2019  
$

2018  
$

Accounts payable and accruals 1,568,150 1,583,932

Deferred income 2,262,981 2,191,885

Training fees in advance 692,620 667,937

Commonwealth Government billed in advance 201,046 1,584,000

Goods and services tax payable 47,077 186,957

Payroll payables 73,053 95,747

Payables to associated entities 27,779 32,121

4,872,706 6,342,579

NOTE 11 PROVISIONS

2019  
$

2018  
$

Current 

Annual leave entitlement 226,402 199,885

Non Current

Long service leave entitlement 238,439 160,353

Total provisions 464,841 360,238

The current portion of this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements 
and the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having 
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the 
full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled 
within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the 
company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event 
employees wish to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion of this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements 
that have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period 
of service.

Return to contents



Page 71

NOTE 12 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

2019  
$

2018  
$

Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities with net surplus 757,215 479,251

Non cash flows in operating surplus 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 133,647 166,670

Provision for employee leave entitlements 104,605 83,337

Unrealised gain in managed funds (445,235) (452,564)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Decrease in accounts receivables and other debtors 1,092,266 576,312

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and deposits (139,026) 23,157

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payables and other payables (1,469,876) 825,050

Net cash provided by operating activities 33,596 1,701,213

NOTE 13 AOA CONFERENCE AND EVENT MANAGEMENT TRUST 

The Association controls the AOA Conference and Event Management Trust which is a unit trust responsible 
for organising and managing events. All of the surplus of the trust has been distributed to the Association 
and assets and liabilities of the trust have been consolidated with those of the Association. The financial 
position of the trust at 30 June 2019 was as follows: 

2019  
$

2018  
$

Cash and cash equivalents 75,508 4,070 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 481,355 500,652 

Prepayments and deposits 651,278 454,811 

Total Assets 1,208,141 959,533 

Accounts payable and other payables 1,208,131 959,523 

Total Liabilities 1,208,131 959,523 

Net Assets 10 10 

Settlement 10 10

NOTE 14 ASSOCIATION DETAILS

The registered office and principal place of business of the Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited is 
Level 12, 45 Clarence Street, Sydney. 

NOTE 15 MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the 
company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 
towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2019, the number of members was 
1796 (2018- 1762).
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NOTE 16 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following table shows the financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at 30 June 2019 and 
June 2018.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOTE 2019  
$

2018  
$

Financial assets

Cash on hand and at bank 4 4,789,448 6,135,969

Managed funds at market value 7 14,552,611 12,947,184

Account receivables and other receivables 5 2,345,976 3,438,242

Total Financial Assets 21,688,035 22,521,395

Financial liabilities

Accounts payables and other payables 10 4,872,706 6,342,579

Total Financial Liabilities 4,872,706 6,342,579

A. Market Risk Analysis

The company is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest
rate risk and certain other prices, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

i) Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the 
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value 
of fixed rate financial instruments. The company is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate 
instruments.

The financial instruments that expose the company to interest rate risk are limited to lease liabilities, listed 
shares, government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand.

The company also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid within 
any pre-agreed credit terms.
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The company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted interest rate for classes of financial 
assets and financial liabilities are set out below:-

2019 NOTE

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 
INT. RATE

FLOATING 
INT. RATE 

$’000

FIXED INT. 
MATURING IN

NON-INT. 
BEARING 

$’000
TOTAL 
$’000

1 YEAR  
or LESS  

$’000

1 to 5 
YEARS 
$’000

Financial assets:

Cash on hand 4 0.52% 2,914 1,876 - - 4,790

Investments 7 4.58% 14,553 - - - 14,553

Receivables 5 - - - 2,346 2,346

Total 17,467 1,876 - 2,346 21,689

Financial liabilities:

Accounts payable 10 - - - 4,873 4,873

- - - 4,873 4,873

ii) Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk) of securities held.

The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to longer terms. 
Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries and geographical locations 
and management has been delegated to a fund manager, Findex Advice Services.

Findex invests the company’s funds through other managed funds spread through a range of sectors in 
order to minimise risk.

B. Liquidity risk

The company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows.

C. Credit risk

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors
under financial instruments entered into by the company.

The company does not have any derivative financial instruments.

D. Price risk

The company is not exposed to commodity price risk.
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E. Fair Value Measurements

The company measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial
recognition

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets 
or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

Fair Value Hierarchy

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value 
hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest 
level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3
Measurements based on 

quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the 
measurement date.

Measurements based on 
inputs other than quoted 
prices included in Level 
1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly.

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 

asset or liability.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one 
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or 
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, 
the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

F. Valuation techniques

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on
the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation technique selected by the
company is consistent with the following valuation approach:

Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities.

NOTE
30 JUNE 2019  

LEVEL 1
30 JUNE 2018 

LEVEL 1
Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in managed funds 7 14,552,611 12,947,184

Total financial assets recognised at fair value 14,552,611 12,947,184
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NOTE 17 CREDIT RISK – RECEIVABLES AND OTHER DEBTORS

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables.

The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit risk 
(prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for 
thereon. Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled within the terms and 
conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables 
that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for 
where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. No 
provision has been made for doubtful debts.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are 
considered to be of high credit quality. Overdue debtors from members for membership fees are expected 
to be recovered in full. Overdue debts from sponsorship providers are not expected to be paid until 
immediately prior to the event being sponsored and are expected to be recovered in full.

2019

GROSS 
AMOUNT  

$

PAST 
DUE AND 
IMPAIRED  

$

“PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED 
(DAYS OVERDUE)”

<30 
$

31-60
$

61-90
$

>90
$

Accounts Receivable 
members

 1,032,089 - 537,662 -  - 494,427

Events Sponsorship debtors  436,114 - 115,664  41,250  84,047  195,153 

Other  877,773 - 481,897  344,434  10,145  41,297 

Total 2,345,976 - 1,135,223  385,684  94,192  730,877

NOTE 18 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

2019 2018

PREMISES 
$

EQUIPMENT 
$

PREMISES 
$

EQUIPMENT 
$

Payments due

not later than one year  167,380  13,781  240,536  13,781 

later than one year and not later than five years  56,817  6,890  334,627  20,671 

later than five years  -  -  -  - 

 224,197  20,671  575,163  34,452 

Leases are primarily over commercial premises. Lease rentals are determined in accordance with market 
conditions when leases are entered into or on rental review dates. There are no restrictions imposed on AOA 
by lease arrangements other than in respect of the specific premises being leased. 

In July 2015, the company executed an agreement to re-lease the current office space with Perpetual Trustee 
Company Limited at 45 Clarence Street Sydney, Australia. A 5 year lease was signed on the premises and is 
included in the lease commitment table above.
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NOTE 19 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.

NOTE 20 KEY MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES

The company’s related parties include its key management personnel, including the Chief Executive Officer 
and other key management personnel

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash.

2019  
$

2018  
$

Short Term Benefits  1,806,759  1,774,712 

Post Employment Benefits  407,046  360,079 

 2,213,805  2,134,791 

NOTE 21 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company has a contingent liability of $143,354 in favour of Perpetual Trustee Company Limited in 
relation to a security guarantee.
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